Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 and Prolonged Exposure to Estrogen as

Risk Factors for Development of Breast Cancer in Women of

Age 35-70 in Yerevan:

A Case-Control Study

Master of Public Health Integrating Experience Project

Utilizing Professional Publication Framework

by

Lilit Khachatryan, MD, MPH Candidate

Advisor: Sarah H. Kagan, PhD, RN

Reader: Rob Scharpf, PhD

College of Health Sciences

American University of Armenia

Yerevan, Armenia

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	iv
ABSTRACT	v
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Magnitude of Breast Cancer	1
1.2 Breast Cancer in the United States and in Armenia: A Comparison	1
1.3 Background and Significance	2
1.3a. Diabetes Mellitus Type 2	2
1.3b. Prolonged Exposure to Estrogen	4
1.3c. Aging and Family history	6
2. RATIONALE FOR THE CURRENT STUDY	7
3. PURPOSE AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	8
4. METHODS	9
4.1 Study Design	9
4.2 Study Population	9
4.3 Study Variables	10
4.4 Study Instrument	10
4.5 Sample Size	11
4.6 Data Collection	12
4.7 Statistical Analyses	12
5. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	13
6. RESULTS	14
7. DISCUSSION	17
7.1 Study Limitations	20
7.2 Study Strengths	21
7.3 Conclusions	21
7.4 Recommendations	21
TABLES	28
Table I. Study Variables (Type and Measurement)	28
Table II. Descriptive Characteristics of the Study Participants ¹	30
Table III. SLR Results: Odds Ratios of Developing Breast Cancer Associated with	
Covariates	32
Table IV. Final Multiple Logistic Regression Model	35
APPENDICES	36
Appendix 1. A Woman's Risk of Developing Breast Cancer by Age	36
Appendix 2. Formulae and STATA Output for Sample Size Calculation	37
Appendix 3. Accrual Journal Form	
Appendix 4. Enrollment Flowchart	38
Appendix 5. Box-Plots of Statistically Significant Difference (p<0.05) in Means	
Appendix 6. Odds Ratios with Confidence Intervals in Univariate Analyses	41
Appendix 7. Receiver-Operating Characteristics Curve	42
Appendix 8. Consent Forms in English and Armenian	44
Oral Consent Form for Cases	44
Oral Consent Form for Cases (Armenian)	45
Oral Consent Form for Controls	46
Oral Consent Form for Controls (Armenian)	47
Appendix 9. IRB Approval	48
Appendix 10. Questionnaires in English and Armenian	49
	-

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my adviser Dr. Sarah Kagan and reader Dr. Rob Scharpf for their continuous support and assistance and invaluable contribution to the project. I am thankful to the whole MPH faculty and CHSR staff in the person of Dr. Varduhi Petrosyan and Dr. Byron Crape for useful comments and constructive suggestions. I would like to thank Mrs Khachanush Hakopyan – Executive Director of AAWC, and Prof. Armen Muradyan – Deputy-Director of NOC, for generously granted permission and unlimited access to their clinical databases. I am grateful to my beloved family for their incredible support, patience and fantastic encouragement. I thank my classmates for their genuine interest and cooperation.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AUA American University of Armenia
- IRB Institutional Review Board
- CHSR College of Health Science Research and Development
- NOC National Oncology Center
- AAWC Armenian-American Wellness Center
- BMI Body Mass Index
- OR Odds Ratio
- RR Relative Risk
- CI Confidence Interval
- CHBMS Champion's Health Belief Model Scale
- NHANES National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
- SLR Simple Logistic Regression
- MLR Multiple Logistic Regression
- AIC Akaike Information Criterion
- **ROC** Receiver-Operating Characteristics

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To investigate the associations of diabetes mellitus type 2 and prolonged exposure to estrogen with the risk of breast cancer development in women of age 35-70 residing in Yerevan.

Methods: A sample of 368 cases and controls was contacted through telephone interviews. Cases (n=150) were women of age 35-70 residing in Yerevan, registered in National Oncology Center and Armenian-American Wellness Center with confirmed diagnosis of breast cancer within 2002-2008. Controls (n=152) were women of the same age group residing in Yerevan recruited through random digit dialing. The study employed a telephonebased, interviewer-administered structured questionnaire for data collection.

Results: Multiple logistic regression analyses revealed that diabetes mellitus type 2 increased the odds of developing breast cancer by factor 5.53 (95% CI 1.34-22.81) and that any birth had a protective effect on breast cancer development (adjusted OR=0.36, 95% CI 0.20-0.66). Additionally, each one year delay in age at first pregnancy was positively associated with breast cancer development (adjusted OR=1.13, 95% CI 1.01-1.27). Induced abortions increased odds of developing breast cancer by factor 2.86 (95% CI 1.02-8.04). Age and BMI were confounding factors for association between diabetes type 2 and breast cancer. Family history had no interaction with diabetes type 2 and women reproductive characteristics resulting in prolonged exposure to estrogen as risk factors for breast cancer development.

Conclusions: In this project, diabetes mellitus type 2, live births, early age first full-term pregnancy, and induced abortions were independent risk factors for development of breast cancer. The current findings serve as a basis for further investigations of global regional patterns of association between diabetes type 2 and female reproductive characteristics and risk of breast cancer development.

V

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Magnitude of Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is among the most significant chronic disease concerns among women the world over. In 2004, breast cancer incidence numbered over one million cases worldwide and, each year, more than 400,000 women die from the disease (1; 2; 3). As a public health problem, breast cancer incidence is increasing around the world. More importantly, incidence has increased as much as 5% per year in developing regions of the world (4). Globally, approximately one woman in eight (13%) has a chance to develop breast cancer (5; 6). Breast cancer accounts for about 18% of all female cancers worldwide (7), making it the most prevalent cancer in the world. There are an estimated 4.4 million survivors up to 5 years following diagnosis (8). Currently, early detection of the disease is critical to disease control and survival as approximately 96% of cases are potentially curable with early treatment (6; 9). Future containment of breast cancer rests in optimal prevention as well as early detection. Consequently, improved understanding of globally and regionally relevant risk factors is necessary to prevention and detection efforts.

1.2 Breast Cancer in the United States and in Armenia: A Comparison

Armenia - a post-Soviet society - is a developing nation with specific public health concerns that include breast cancer as well as other common conditions such as diabetes mellitus type 2 and obesity. However, little breast cancer research is specific to Armenia. What is known about breast cancer can be compared with what is known about the disease in developed nations like the United States to highlight current evidence and gaps in science that pertain to the Armenian context. An estimated 192,370 new cases of breast cancer are expected to be diagnosed in 2009 in the United States (10). Among American women, breast cancer death rates are second only to deaths from lung cancer, as the leading cause of cancer mortality among women. An estimated 40,170 deaths are expected in 2009 (10). The age-adjusted incidence rate is 123.8 per 100,000 women per year, while the age-adjusted death rate is 24.5 per 100,000 women per year (10). In Armenia, the most current statistics show that breast cancer incidence was about 870 in 2002. Incident cases climbed to 990 in 2006 (11). Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer morbidity and mortality among Armenian women (12). Morbidity has increased almost two-fold from 31.9 per 100,000 (1995) to 59.6 per 100,000 (2006) (13). Mortality accounted for 16.4 deaths per 100,000 in 2004 and is the eighth leading cause of death in Armenia (14; 15; 16). In summary, while breast cancer is not as pressing a concern in Armenia as it is in the United States, it presents a considerable threat to the health of Armenian women.

1.3 Background and Significance

The magnitude of the public health impact breast cancer is framed by risk factors for the disease. Substantial science exposes several important risk factors for breast cancer. The most prominent risk factors for developing breast cancer are increasing age, family history, and a variety of endogenous and exogenous sources for prolonged estrogen exposure such as reproductive patterns. More recently, diabetes mellitus type 2 has been identified as a risk factor as well. This section reviews current evidence for the risk factors to be addressed in the current study. While some literature suggests there are other risk factors (e.g. radiation, race, alcohol consumption, medication) for breast cancer, these are not apparently significant in Armenian society and thus are not reviewed here or explored in this study.

1.3a. Diabetes Mellitus Type 2

Recent literature suggests an association between diabetes mellitus type 2 and breast cancer is more recent. While the mechanism for this relationship has yet to be established, the most likely cause is hypothesized to be hyperinsulinemia. Hyperinsulinemia is common among people with diabetes mellitus type 2. Insulin resistance is the most common cause of hyperinsulinemia (17). Insulin receptors are over-expressed in breast cancer (17). Thus, hyperinsulinemia may hypothetically stimulate growth of breast cancer cells (17-19). Several studies suggest an association between hyperinsulinemia and risk of breast cancer (17-25). Investigators found that diabetic women are 60% more likely to develop breast cancer after adjusting for age and race (20). Other authors report that insulin is associated with development of breast cancer with hazard ratios from 2.1 to 3.3 (95% CI 1.2-3.6 and 1.5-7.0) (for upper and lower quartiles of insulin respectively) thus supporting the conclusion that diabetes mellitus type 2 may be a risk factor for developing breast cancer (19). A further study reported that hyperinsulinemia is a significant risk factor (RR = 2.9, p<0.001) for breast cancer independent of general adiposity (21). These findings are corroborated by other researchers who found a moderate, direct association between diabetes mellitus type 2 and breast cancer (OR = 1.3, p<0.001) (22). This relationship appears more consistent in postmenopausal women (23). Scientists suggest that adipocytokines – biologically active peptides associated with obesity - lead to insulin resistance and, thus, are causally associated with diabetes mellitus type 2 and breast cancer (25). Investigation of the relationship of diabetes mellitus type 2 to development of breast cancer is especially important in Armenia. In 2005 1.4% of the Armenian population was found to have diabetes mellitus type 2 (26). In Armenia, morbidity of and mortality from diabetes mellitus type 2 has increased from 1309.6 and 35.83 per 100,000 population respectively in 2001 to 1607.3 and 36.29 per 100,000 population in 2006 (14). In summary, though there is evidence that suggests diabetes mellitus type 2 is a risk factor for breast cancer, the science is not yet well developed. Further investigation is needed in many societies including Armenia.

1.3b. Prolonged Exposure to Estrogen

Prolonged exposure to estrogen, through early menarche or other means, is among the most important established risk factors for breast cancer (7). The mechanism is hypothesized as prolonged exposure to estrogen which stimulates mammary cell mitogenic activity and proliferation that may represent risk of developing breast cancer (5). Early menarche (first menstruation, before age 12), late age at menopause (above age 54) and late first full-term pregnancy (above age 30) are among the best studied reproductive characteristics hypothesized as risk factors for development of breast cancer (7). Several studies reveal that early age at menarche and late age at menopause are associated with 3- and 2-fold higher relative risk for development of breast cancer (7; 27). A delay of 2 years of menarche corresponds to 10% (95% CI 6-15%) reduction in breast cancer risk, while women at menopause with each 5 year difference have 17% (95% CI 11-22%) higher risk of breast cancer (28). After adjustment for the effects of ages at interim births, the risk of breast cancer increases by about 13% for each 5 year increment in age at first birth (OR=1.13, 95% CI 1.08-1.19) (29).

Childbearing and breastfeeding practices reduce the number of menstrual cycles a woman experiences. These reproductive and childbearing practices may limit lifetime estrogen exposure (5). Some authors suggest they then having protective effect, limiting the risk of breast cancer (27). Conversely, nulliparity (30) and shorter breastfeeding period (generally less than 9 months) appear to increase risk (5). However, evidence on parity and risk of breast cancer are contradictory. Studies conducted elsewhere report no effect of parity in women with the first birth at age over 35, and higher risk at uniparous compared with nulliparous women (31). Another study reports the contrary case with a significant protective effect ($\chi^2 = 14.2$, p<0.001) against breast cancer observed with increasing parity (32). These contradictory findings are presented below in Table 1.

Factors	Increase in risk	Reduction in risk
Nulliparity*	30.0%	
Every 2 births*		16.0%
1 st birth after 35 vs. before 20*	40.0%	
Increasing parity**		10.0% (OR=0.9)
Parity + lactation over 25 months†		RR=0.67
High parity‡	RR=2.4	RR=0.5
	(in women <45 years)	(in women >45 years)

Table 1. Parity and Risk of Developing Breast Cancer

*=reference (33), **=reference (32), †=reference (34), ‡=reference (35)

Two studies observe an OR of 0.85 (95% CI 0.55-1.30) for any lactation versus no lactation at all (36; 37), others report that RR of breast cancer is decreased by 4.3% (95% CI 2.9-5.8, p<0.0001) for every 12 months of breastfeeding in addition to a decrease of 7.0% (95% CI 5.0-9.0, p<0.0001) for each birth, suggesting that the longer women breastfeed the more they are protected against breast cancer (38). However, reported reduction in risk may be attributable to other factors as well.

Obesity may represent a more complex risk of breast cancer. Adipose tissue produces estrogens and is the primary endogenous source after menopause (7). In post-menopausal women, obesity has been positively associated with risk of breast cancer (39). However, increased body weight is inversely related to breast cancer risk in pre-menopausal women (39). Investigators report that obesity is an important risk factor for postmenopausal breast cancer: heavier women (BMI>31.1) have an elevated risk of breast cancer development (RR=2.52, 95% CI 1.62-3.93) compared to slimmer women (BMI = 22.6) (40). At the same time, obesity is also linked with diabetes mellitus type 2, wherein biologically active peptides called adipocytokines are associated with both obesity and insulin resistance (25). Thus, the issue of obesity as a risk factor for both insulin resistance and breast cancer development warrants further investigation.

Along with endogenous estrogens, exogenous estrogens – consumed either as oral contraceptives or hormone replacement therapy – appear to moderately increase risk of breast cancer (7; 27). Women using contraceptives with estrogen have somewhat elevated risk (RR=1.32, 95% CI 1.14-1.54) while those using estrogen plus progestins (RR=1.41, 95% CI 1.15-1.74) have slightly higher and again significant risk. This level of risk is similar among women using hormone replacement therapy for 5-9 years (adjusted RR =1.46, 95% CI 1.22-1.74) (41). Consequently, exogenously consumed estrogens – as well as endogenously produced estrogens – may confer higher risk of developing breast cancer.

Induced abortion may hypothetically limit estrogen exposure and thus reduce risk of breast cancer. Nonetheless, induced abortion is not well studied and has only partial inconclusive evidence to support its role in breast cancer risk. Some studies suggest that inducted abortions have protective effect on development of breast cancer: RR=0.93 (p<0.0002) (42). Some studies conclude that pregnancies ending with induced abortions do not increase women's risk of breast cancer development, while others state that results substantially differ between studies with prospectively (before the diagnosis of breast cancer) and retrospectively (after the diagnosis of breast cancer) collected information on abortion (RR=0.93 vs. RR=1.0, p=0.5) (43). However, other authors report that any induced abortion results in an odds ratio of 1.3 (95% CI 1.2-1.4) while the odds ratio is 1.5 (95% CI 1.2-1.8) for induced abortion during the first trimester of pregnancy (44).

1.3c. Aging and Family history

Advanced age and family history are well-studied, non-modifiable risk factors for breast cancer development (7). These factors may also influence the role of diabetes mellitus type 2 and of estrogen exposure and confound associations. The incidence of breast cancer approximately doubles with each decade of life (7). Thus, from age 30 to 39 the risk is only 0.43%, while it jumps to 4% by the seventh decade of life (5; **Appendix 1**). Similarly, breast cancer has some familial and genetic associations (7). Having first-degree relatives with breast cancer, especially those diagnosed before age 50, increases the risk of getting breast cancer (OR = 2.45, 95% CI 1.84-3.06) (5). Even women who have second- and third-degree relatives with breast cancer are at some increased risk (OR = 1.82 (95% CI 1.39-2.24) for second degree relations and 1.35 (95% CI 1.07-1.64) for third degree relations) (45).

2. RATIONALE FOR THE CURRENT STUDY

Given that breast cancer is a common malignancy among Armenian women, and that diabetes mellitus type 2 is prevalent among Armenians, the present study was conducted to explore associations between and among breast cancer, diabetes mellitus type 2 and estrogen exposure among Armenian women. No extant studies investigate estrogen exposure and diabetes mellitus type 2 and risk of breast cancer in an Armenian sample (personal communication with Executive Director of Armenian-American Wellness Center K. Hakopyan). The incidence of breast cancer and diabetes mellitus type 2 in Armenia are both increasing (12; 14; 46; 47). A variety of factors prolong exposure to estrogen, including currently low parity (1.7 births per woman in 2005); an elective abortion rate of 1.8 abortions per woman in 2005; and declining rates of exclusive breastfeeding (from 45% to 33% among children of age less than 4 months from 2000 to 2005) (13; 15). As more commonly acknowledged risk factors for prolonged estrogen exposure have increased in Armenia so too has obesity. The prevalence of women with BMI equal to and more than 25kg/m² of age over 30 accounts for 65.7% (48). Identification of associations among these factors and risk of breast cancer in both pre- and post-menopausal women (aged between 35 and 70) is then essential for understanding the magnitude of modifiable risk of estrogen and diabetes mellitus type 2 related risk of breast cancer in Armenia.

3. PURPOSE AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The purposes of the study were to:

- Assess diabetes mellitus type 2 as a risk factor for development of breast cancer.
- Assess prolonged exposure to estrogen as a risk factor for development of breast cancer.
- Identify possible interaction of family history with the known risk factors in development of breast cancer.
- Provide recommendations to improve evidence for early detection of breast cancer in Armenian women at risk.

The three research questions investigated are:

- Is there a positive association between diabetes mellitus type 2 and development of breast cancer in women of age between 35 and 70 in Yerevan?
- 2) Is there an association between prolonged exposure to estrogen defined by early age at menarche, late age at menopause, late age at first full-term pregnancy, nulliparity, obesity, breastfeeding practices, induced abortions and intake of exogenous hormones and development of breast cancer in women of age between 35 and 70 in Yerevan?
- 3) Is there an interaction between family history of breast cancer with diabetes mellitus type 2 and prolonged exposure to estrogen and development of breast cancer in women of age between 35 and 70 in Yerevan?

4. METHODS

4.1 Study Design

A case-control study design allows investigation of associations among multiple variables of interest and the single outcome of breast cancer. This design can explore aspects of relatively rare diseases. In addition, it is useful to identify multiple exposures and reveal associations and interactions among variables. A case-control design is both feasible and ethical. Further, data collection may be accomplished in a relatively short period using telephone interviews to preserve anonymity and confidentiality while incurring minimal expense (49). Potential disadvantages to this design may include recall bias and low response rates (50). Nonetheless, the Center for Health Services Research has found that, while recall bias is a concern that must be addressed in measurement, response rates among the general Armenian populace are high (averaging 85%) (51; 52). As a result, a case-control design is useful in achieving the purposes of this project.

4.2 Study Population

The target population for this project includes all women aged 35 to 70 years who reside in Yerevan, the capital of the Republic of Armenia. The study population provided both cases and controls for the project. To be eligible, both cases and controls were women aged 35 to 70 on enrollment, who speak Armenian and have documented residency in Yerevan in domiciles with operating telephones. Those agreeing to participate by telephone were enrolled for either case or control given the following criteria. Those eligible as cases were registered at the National Oncology Center (NOC) and Armenian-American Wellness Center (AAWC) between January 2002 and December 2008 with confirmed diagnosis of breast cancer. Controls should have no history of breast diseases; no previous breast surgery except for cosmetic procedures, and were identified through random digit dialing.

Women were excluded if they:

- Had busy telephone line at 3 attempts within 2 consecutive days each and 1 attempt on weekend
- Had a disconnected telephone line
- Were out of the country (for cases)
- Had an incorrect telephone number (for cases)
- Had an office telephone dialed (for controls)

4.3 Study Variables

The dependent variable is breast cancer. Control variables are: diabetes mellitus type 2, age, age at menarche, age at first pregnancy, age at menopause, number of pregnancies, number of induced abortions, number of live births, BMI (weight/height²), family history of breast cancer, breastfeeding duration, intake and duration of contraceptives and female hormones (**Tables, Table I**). The variable "diabetes mellitus type 2" was defined through a composite variable consisting of a direct question and several indirect questions. Specifically those participants diagnosed with onset of diabetes before age 35 and taking only insulin were considered to have diabetes mellitus type 1. Participants with diabetes onset after age 35 and who were taking oral hypoglycemic agents, with or without insulin, or taking insulin alone were considered to have diabetes mellitus type 2.

4.4 Study Instrument

A structured questionnaire for telephone use was designed for use in the study by adapting questions from instruments used in previous studies in Armenia and the United States. Thirty-three items are either closed, forced choice questions or factual reports (e.g. height and weight). The questionnaire addressed following domains: a) demographic and anthropometric data on age, education level, marital status, weight and height; b) medical history on diabetes mellitus type 2; c) reproductive history including childbearing and breastfeeding; d) use of exogenous estrogens; e) family history of breast cancer; and f) smoking habits. Smoking habits are included in the instrument to query the tobacco use in women of the sample to augment the CHSR database to provide correspondence with other CHSR studies, although the association between smoking and breast cancer remains controversial despite over 100 epidemiologic studies (53-59). General questions as well as anthropometric, childbearing and breastfeeding questions were adapted from Champion's instrument (CHBMS) modified for Turkish women (60; 61). Questions about diabetes and its management were adapted from questionnaire 2005-2006 NHANES for diabetes SP_DIQ (62). Questions about reproduction were adapted from instrument developed by Arakelyan (63; 64). The instrument was pre-tested in five women before proceeding with interviews. Following this pre-test, a question about induced abortions was split into two questions to query induced abortions and spontaneous abortion or miscarriage. The other 32 questions remained unchanged (**Appendix 10**).

4.5 Sample Size

Sample size was calculated based on proportions and OR, level of significance (type I error α =0.05, two-sided), power 80% and response rate 80%. The calculated sample projected equal numbers of participants in both case and control groups. Based on the first research question exploring diabetes mellitus type 2 and the typical range of odds ratios for developing breast cancer among diabetics (1.3 – 3.3), the most conservative OR considered for sample size calculation was 2.0 (19; 20; 22). Proportion of people exposed to diabetes mellitus type 2 was taken as 0.60 (p₁ = proportion in cases). Then p₂ (proportion of women exposed to diabetes mellitus type 2 in controls) and sample size were calculated (65;

Appendix 2). Thus, p_2 was calculated as 0.43 and sample size as 147 in cases and 147 in controls. After adjusting for a response rate of 80%, a typical response rate for telephone

surveys conducted in Armenia (51; 52), the prospective sample size was increased to 184 in cases and 184 in controls to account for those declining to participate.

4.6 Data Collection

Data were collected by telephone interview during a 35-day period in early 2009. A list of 230 women with a breast cancer diagnosis and telephone numbers were obtained from AAWC and NOC by permission of the respective center directors. This list was incorporated in a sample frame and cases were selected through simple random sampling using a table of random numbers. Controls were simply identified through random digit dialing. Enrollment was recorded in a journal format (**Appendix 3**). The enrollment flowchart documents accrual of 150 cases and 152 controls, a sample that meets the power calculation (**Appendix 4**).

4.7 Statistical Analyses

Completed questionnaires were entered into and initially analyzed by SPSS 10.0. Data were cleaned (through range and spot checking) and recoding was done for some variables as appropriate. Questionnaires were considered incomplete if missing values count for more than 15% (66; 67), or five missing values in this particular case. Data were then converted for use with STATA 10.0 to complete the advanced statistical analyses. Means and standard deviations (if normally distributed) and medians and ranges (if skewed) were used for continuous variables, while frequency analyses were performed for categorical variables. T-test, chi-square and Fisher's exact test were used for comparisons. For identification of associations between variables of interest and adjustment for interaction, confounding and effect modification, simple and multiple logistic analyses were conducted. Possible interactions between family history and all major independent variables of interest were checked and tested creating special interaction terms. In order to find independent risk factors for breast cancer, multiple logistic regression analysis was utilized with forward and

backward elimination of those variables that showed statistically significant differences in simple logistic regressions as well as including variables with marginally significant level (e.g. less than 0.100). Each model was tested against the nested model using log-likelihood ratio test and the most parsimonious model with the lowest Akaike information criterion (AIC), exact expression for bias adjustment (68), was considered as the best fitting model. The final multiple logistic regression model fit was tested for Hosmer-Lemeshow test for calibration across 10 risk groups, while for discrimination the Receiver-Operating characteristics (ROC) curve was graphed.

5. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The project, along with all study materials in English and Armenian, was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of AUA (**Appendix 9**). Verbal consent was obtained from all participants before the questionnaire was administered. Verbal consent included detailed information on the purpose of the study, conductor and procedure; eligibility, participant rights and voluntary involvement, and the potential risks and benefits of participation. Information obtained from participants was used only for study purposes. Only the principal investigator had access to pre-enrollment files and accrual journal with names and telephone numbers. For purposes of data management, each participant was assigned an identification number that was dissociated from enrollment and consent materials. Only the identification number was used on the questionnaire and in the database to ensure anonymity and confidentiality. The study files were maintained in a computer secured by password located in a locked room and accessible only to the principal investigator. All files with information identifying participants will be destroyed upon completion of the study and approval of the project report.

6. RESULTS

Complete questionnaires were collected from 150 cases and 152 controls for response rates of 81.5% and 82.6% respectively. Refusal rates were 3.8% (7 participants) among cases and 17.4% (32 participants) among controls. Twenty seven prospective participants in cases had died before being contacted for the study accounting for death rate of 14.7%. No incomplete questionnaires were collected. The characteristics of the study participants are presented in **Table II** (**Tables**) and graphically in **Appendix 5**.

Statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between cases and controls were observed in a variety of variables. Statistically significant differences (p<0.001) were observed in mean age of cases and controls (55.8 \pm 7.9 vs. 51.1 \pm 9.9), diabetic status in cases and controls (14.7% vs. 3.3%), also in mean age at first pregnancy (23.7 \pm 4.4 vs. 21.8 \pm 3.8), absence of menopause status (12.0% vs. 42.4%), as well as reported family history of breast cancer (27.3% vs. 9.9%) in cases and controls respectively. Cases were different from controls in education level (p=0.021). More interestingly, cases differ from controls in respect of a) mean overall BMI (29.0 \pm 4.3 vs. 27.7 \pm 4.6) as well within BMI categories (41.9% vs. 26.0% in women with BMI>30.0 kg/m²) (p=0.014 and 0.007 respectively); and b) mean age at menarche (13.5 \pm 1.5 vs. 14.0 \pm 1.5) (p=0.002). Parity was 1.99 \pm 0.9 vs. 2.22 \pm 1.02 in cases and controls with p-value equal to 0.041. Notably, there were almost three times more cases that ever used female hormones compared to controls (20.7% vs. 9.9%, p=0.009). Interestingly, controls smoked on average almost twice the number of cigarettes smoked by cases (13.4 \pm 11.8 vs. 7.8 \pm 6.7) (p=0.036).

Simple logistic regression analyses run for all covariates with corresponding odds ratios, 95% confidence intervals and p-values are detailed in **Table III** (**Tables**). There is a statistically significant association between development of breast cancer and age. Each one year increase in age is associated with 6% increased odds of developing breast cancer (p<0.001). At that, women in age category of 45-54 and those of age 55-70 have 2.5 and 4.6 times higher odds (p=0.010 and p<0.001) respectively in comparison with women in younger age group of 35-44.

A statistically significant association between development of breast cancer and BMI exists with 7% higher odds for each unit increase in BMI. Obese women are at 2.4 higher odds versus women with normal BMI (p=0.010). Having diabetes mellitus type 2 increases the odds of developing breast cancer by a factor of 5.1 (p=0.001). Similarly menarche onset delayed by each one year decreases the odds of breast cancer development by 22% (p=0.003). Onset of menarche after 11 reduces the odds of developing breast cancer by 67% (p=0.040). At that, late onset of menarche (after 15) reduces the odds of breast cancer development compared to early onset before 11 years by 74% (p=0.017). There is statistically significant increase of 13% (p<0.001) in odds of breast cancer associated with each year increase in age at first pregnancy. Age at first pregnancy between the ages of 21 to 30 years and that above 30 years is associated with statistically significant (p=0.003 and 0.010) increase by 2.21 (95% CI 1.32-3.69) and 4.95 (95% CI 1.47-16.71) times the odds, respectively, compared to first pregnancy before age 20 years. Further, there is a statistically significant relationship between parity and breast cancer development (24% reduction in odds, p=0.014). However, reduction in odds with each live birth or living child is not statistically significant. There is increase in odds (1.6 times) of breast cancer with lifetime induced abortions that approached significance (p=0.064). Nonetheless, the regression shows that induced abortions elevate odds of breast cancer by 77% with lifetime abortions between one and three and 95% if experienced between 4 and 10 times respectively (p=0.049 and p=0.036). Being postmenopausal increases breast cancer odds (OR=5.4; p<0.001) as does a positive family history (OR=3.5, p<0.001). Use of any estrogen also increases odds of breast cancer development (OR=2.4, p=0.010). Extended use (over 25 months) of oral contraceptives, compared to

short-time use (less than 6 months), increased odds of breast cancer (OR=10.67) but only approached significance with a p-value equal to 0.070. The graph with univariate analyses with corresponding confidence intervals is presented in **Appendix 6**.

As described in Section 4.7, we assessed the independent contribution of each of the candidate risk factors for the odds of breast cancer using multivariate logistic regression. While we evaluated many models in the multivariate analyses, we report the key findings from the model in **Table IV** (**Tables**) on the basis of AIC. After adjusting for BMI, we found that the linear relationship with age and the log odds of breast cancer is no longer statistically significant (OR=0.96, 95% CI 0.90-1.02). There was no evidence that the effect of BMI on breast cancer risk differed by age, nor did we find statistically significant interactions between family history and other primary independent variables and breast cancer (**Table IV**).

Diabetes mellitus type 2 is an independent risk factor for development of breast cancer adjusted for age, BMI, age at menarche, age at first pregnancy and age at menopause, as well as for live birth, abortion, breastfeeding duration and female hormone use. For instance, women with diabetes mellitus type 2 are 5.53 times (95% CI 1.34-22.81) more likely to have breast cancer than otherwise similar to women without diabetes mellitus type 2. Each year increment of age at first pregnancy increase the odds of developing breast cancer by factor of 1.13 (p<0.05). Giving birth to a child reduces the odds of breast cancer with OR=0.36 adjusted for other variables (p<0.05). Even one abortion increases the odds of developing breast cancer by factor 2.86 (p<0.05). Multivariate model discrimination is shown by ROC curve (**Appendix 7**).

7. DISCUSSION

The present case-control study investigated associations between diabetes mellitus type 2 and prolonged exposure to estrogens in risk of breast cancer among women of age 35-70 residing in Yerevan, Armenia. The present study demonstrates that diabetes mellitus type 2, BMI, aging, age at onset of menarche and at first full-term pregnancy, parity, induced abortions and female hormone use are associated with the risk of development of breast cancer. It corroborates similar findings from other studies conducted in other societies. Notably, age at menopause, breastfeeding and oral contraceptive use are not associated with the risk of breast cancer in this study.

We had reason to believe, based on analysis of the literature, that diabetes mellitus type 2 was positively associated with the risk of breast cancer development. As we expected, the results show statistically significant positive association between diabetes mellitus type 2 and breast cancer (unadjusted OR=5.05, p=0.001). This finding is consistent with those reported elsewhere (19; 22; 25). The OR increased to 5.53 after adjustment for other variables emphasizes the positive association between diabetes mellitus type 2 and breast cancer. This remarkable increase in odds of developing breast cancer in diabetic women may be due to the sample characteristics (e.g. older and heavier women among the cases), as well as other confounders and risk factors that were not considered in this study. Nevertheless, the findings warrant future research replicating the present project. Additionally, this finding may inform clinical education for primary care and specialist physicians in Armenia, encouraging better attention to screening for breast cancer among women with diabetes mellitus type 2.

We investigated female reproductive characteristics resulting in prolonged exposure to estrogen which is a risk factor for development of breast cancer. Our findings suggest that early age at onset of menarche and late age at first full-term pregnancy assuming prolonged

exposure to estrogen present risk for breast cancer (unadjusted OR=0.33 (95% CI 0.12-0.95) and OR=4.95 (95% CI 1.47-16.71) respectively). These findings are similar to those found in other studies that suggest a protective effect of late onset of menarche and of early age at first pregnancy (7; 27; 33). The negative association found between increasing parity and risk of breast cancer is not statistically significant, contrasting published findings (29; 33-34). However, giving birth to four or more children had a marginally statistical significant protective effect for breast cancer development (OR=0.28, p=0.071). This modest finding may be explained by the very small number of participants reporting four or more children. However, the final model adjusted for covariates shows that any birth has a protective effect on breast cancer development (adjusted OR=0.36, 95% CI 0.20-0.66). Additionally, each one year delay in age at first pregnancy is positively associated with development of breast cancer (adjusted OR=1.13, 95% CI 1.01-1.27). While these findings are intriguing, they require further investigation.

Breastfeeding and its duration had no association with breast cancer development. These findings are in contrast to literature that suggests these factors limit risk (35-38). While breastfeeding longer than 24 months was associated with reduced odds of breast cancer development (OR=0.58), this finding is not statistically significant (p=0.240). In fact, the lack of a significant association between lactation and breast cancer may be explained by almost equal number of women in the sample that breastfed their children less than and more than 9 months – the cutoff point suggested by previous studies (7).

Exogenous hormones appear to increase risk of breast cancer over time. Use of replacement hormones increased odds of breast cancer about 2.4 times (OR=2.38, p=0.010), while combined duration of female hormone use longer than 25 months shows 5.9 times greater odds when compared with use of less than 6 months. However, this increase in OR is not statistically significant (p=0.123). Similarly, overall lifetime duration of oral

contraceptive use shows marginally significant relation (OR=10.7) in the same comparison. These findings are consistent with those published elsewhere (27; 41). However, very few participants reported use of exogenous hormones for contraception or replacement and may then explain the contradiction with significance of findings from samples of women drawn from countries where use of these drugs is more common (e.g. the United States or Europe).

Age and obesity, measured as BMI, were significantly associated with increased risk of breast cancer, findings consistent with the literature (7; 39-40). As expected, simple logistic regression showed that aging, one of the major non-modifiable risk factors for breast cancer development elevate odds of disease development (unadjusted OR=2.5 and OR=4.6 in age groups of 45-54 and 55-70, p<0.010). However, in respect to the primary variables of interest – diabetes mellitus type 2 – aging turned to be a confounder, and lost its significance in the final multivariate logistic regression model (OR=0.96, 95% CI 0.90-1.02). More flexible models for relationship of age and the odds of breast cancer were similar. This suggests that much of the linear relationship with age and breast cancer may be partially explained by BMI.

Obesity was positively associated with breast cancer (unadjusted OR= 1.07, p=0.015). This finding corroborates findings of other studies (39-40). Moreover, women in the BMI category greater than 30kg/m^2 , in other words – obese, are at 2.4 times greater odds of breast cancer development against those with normal BMI within 19.0-24.9 kg/m². Despite this association, BMI lost its significance level in the final multivariate model.

As expected, being menopausal conferred about 5.4 times greater odds (p<0.001) of developing breast cancer. About 85% of women in the sample of cases reported being menopausal, and the difference between cases and controls was significant (p<0.001). Our findings do not reveal a statistically significant relationship between late age at menopause

and development of breast cancer in contrast to published studies indicating that late age at menopause is positively associated with development of breast cancer (27-28).

The odds of breast cancer was statistically significantly greater in women who experienced 1 to 10 lifetime abortions (OR= 1.95, p=0.036) compared to women who reported no abortions. The literature reports some controversy over a possibly protective effect between induced abortions and risk of breast cancer development (42; 44). However, most evidence points to no effect (43). Interestingly, when adjusted for other covariates, induced abortions showed even higher odds of developing breast cancer (OR=2.86, p=0.046). This finding is not robust. Though induced abortions may interrupt estrogen production, thus leading to less exposure, they may also create other reproductive system alterations. Reporting bias may further jeopardize this particular finding given the sensitive nature of induced abortions. Further, the current study did not find any association between miscarriages and risk of breast cancer development; however, this finding may be explained by the few women in the sample reporting miscarriage. Future investigation is necessary to establish the actual relationship between abortion and breast cancer in the Armenian population.

7.1 Study Limitations

The present case-control study is limited in several ways. The psychometric properties of the questionnaire were not assessed and hence are a further constraint on the study and interpretation of the findings. Recall bias, as with all case-control studies is an important concern. Reporting bias also limits the study given the sensitive issues concerning cancer, smoking, induced abortion, and body weight addressed in the questionnaire. Latency bias could affect the results obtained from controls, since breast cancer, as any oncology problem, has a long latent period, so a number of controls could have had the problem in its earlier stages, while their reported data were considered in the light of control data. Other possible

confounding variables that were not considered or adjusted for in the current study may have altered observed associations. Finally, as this is a retrospective, population-based survey and not a biological study, the clinical relevance to the findings is limited.

7.2 Study Strengths

The present case-control study was the first study that focused on the role of diabetes mellitus type 2 and prolonged exposure to estrogen as risk factors for development of breast cancer among Armenian women.

7.3 Conclusions

In summary, the current case-control study investigated and assessed the role of diabetes type 2 and female reproductive characteristics resulting in prolonged exposure to estrogen as risk factors for development of breast cancer in women of age 35-70 residing in Yerevan. Based on the results of the final model, and addressing the research questions, a number of conclusions are made as follows:

- 1. Diabetes mellitus type 2 is positively associated with the risk of developing breast cancer.
- 2. Late age at pregnancy (after 20 years old) and nulliparity assuming prolonged exposure to estrogen are positively associated with developing breast cancer.
- 3. Induced abortions are positively associated with development of breast cancer.
- 4. Family history is an independent risk factor for breast cancer development. There is, however, no interaction apparent between the family history, diabetes type 2 and female reproductive characteristics with breast cancer development.

7.4 Recommendations

Based on the findings of the current case-control study, we recommend: a) conduct a cohort study to find out the incidence rate of breast cancer among the study cohort of diabetic women; b) clinical education and training of endocrinologists and mammologists to enhance their clinical collaboration to meet the needs of women with diabetes mellitus type 2 and address their risk of breast cancer and health screening needs; c) reinforcing among clinicians heightened awareness of the need for annual breast cancer screening for breast cancer among those women at risk, with the acknowledgment that diabetes mellitus type 2 likely confers risk; d) similarly reinforcing promotion of weight reduction and maintenance; e) further research replicating the present study with similar samples within and outside Yerevan; and f) prospective epidemiological and clinical studies to further explore the influence of childbearing, breastfeeding and contraceptive practices on breast cancer risk in the Armenian population.

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO, Global Burden of Disease Report, Part 3, 2004 <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/2004_report_update/en/index.h</u> <u>tml</u>
- 2. WHO, Breast Cancer http://www.who.int/cancer/detection/breastcancer/en/
- 3. WHO, Global Burden of Cancer http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/index.html
- 4. Groot MT, Baltussen R, Groot CA, Anderson BO, Hortobagyi GN. Global epidemiology methods. The Breast Journal, Vol. 12 (1):81-90, 2006
- 5. Breast Cancer Organization http://www.breastcancer.org
- 6. Genetics Home Reference http://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition=breastcancer
- 7. McPherson K, Steel CM, Dixon JM. Breast cancer epidemiology, risk factors and genetics. BMJ, Vol. 321(7261), Sep 2000
- 8. Parkin M, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. Ann. Of Oncol. 13:840-862, 2002
- Burke W, Daly M, Garber J, Botkin J, Kahn MJE, Lynch P. Recommendations for follow-up care of individuals with an inherited predisposition to breast cancer. JAMA, 277:997-1003, 1997
- 10. NCI, Surveillance Epidemiology & End Results http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/breast.html
- 11. Statistical Yearbook 2008, MOH, Armenia <u>http://moh.am/moh_statitsics_2008.pdf</u> (retrieved in December, 2008)
- 12. WHO, Country Information, Armenia <u>http://who.int/breastcancer/facts/en/index.html</u> (retrieved in December, 2008)
- Statistical Yearbook 2006, MOH, Armenia <u>http://moh.am/moh_statistics_2006.pdf</u> (retrieved in December, 2008)
- 14. WHO, World Health Report 2004, Annex http://who.int/evidence/bod
- 15. Armenian Demographic and Health Survey, 2006, MOH, Armenia, available at http://www.armstat.am/file/doc/527.pdf
- 16. WHO Statistics 2006, Death and DALY Estimates by Cause http://who.int/entity/healthinfo/statistics/bodgbddeathdalyestimates.xls
- 17. Papa V, Costantino A, Belfiore A. Insulin receptor what role in breast cancer? Trends Endocrinol Metab 1997; 8:306-312.

- 18. Goodwin PJ, Ennis M, Bahl M, Fantus IG, Pritchard KI, Trudeau ME, Koo J, Hood N. High insulin levels in newly diagnosed breast cancer patients reflect underlying insulin resistance and are associated with components of the insulin resistance syndrome. Breast cancer Res Treat, Apr 2008
- Goodwin PJ, Ennis M, Pritchard KI, Trudeau ME, Koo J, Madarnas Y, Hartwick W, Hoffman B, Hood N. Fasting insulin and outcome in early-stage breast cancer: results of a prospective cohort study. Journal of Clinical Oncology, Vol 20, Issue 1 (January), 2002: 42-51
- 20. Mink PJ, Essig M. Serum insulin and glucose levels and breast cancer incidence The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. American Journal of Epidemiology, 2002;156(4):349-352
- 21. Bruning PF, Bonfrer JM, van Noord PA, Hart AA, de Jong-Bakker M, Nooijen WJ. Insulin resistance and breast cancer risk. Int. J. Cancer, 52: 511-516, 1992
- 22. Augustin LSA, Dal Maso L, La Vecchia C, Parpinel M, Negri E, Vaccarella S, Kendall CWC, Jenkins DJA, Franceschi S. Dietary glycemic index and glycemic load and breast cancer risk: a case-control study. Annals of Oncology. 12(11):1533-1538, Nov 2001
- Xue F, Michels KB. Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and breast cancer: a review of the current evidence. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, Vol. 86, No. 3, 823S-835S, Sep 2007
- 24. Yam D, Fink A, Mashiah A, Ben-Hur E. Hyperinsulinemia in colon, stomach and breast cancer patients. Cancer Lett 104 (2):129-132, 1996
- 25. Rose DP, Komninou D, Stephenson GD. Obesity, adipocytokines and insulin resistance in breast cancer. Obes Rev 2004 Aug; 5(3):153-165
- 26. WHO Regional office for Europe. Highlights on Health of Armenia. Retrieved April 5, 2005, from <u>http://www.euro.who.int/document/e72377.pdf</u>
- 27. Key TJ, Verkasalo PK, Banks E. Epidemiology of breast cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2001, Mar; 2(3): 133-40
- 28. Hsieh CC, Trichopoulos D, Katsouyanni K, Yuasa S. Age at menarche, age at menopause, height and obesity as risk factors for breast cancer: associations and interactions in an international case control study. Int J Cancer 1990 Nov 15;46(5):796-800
- 29. Lambe M, Hsieh CC, Chan HW, Ekbom A, Trichopoulos D, Adami HO. Parity, age at first and last birth, and risk of breast cancer: a population-based study in Sweden. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 1996:38(3) 305-11
- 30. RHO Archives, Glossary www.rho.org/html/glossary.html
- 31. Kvåle G, Heuch I, Eide GE. A prospective study of reproductive factors and breast cancer. American Journal of Epidemiology, Vol. 126(5): 831-841

- Pathak DR, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Rosner B, Lipnick RJ. Parity and breast cancer risk: possible effect on age at diagnosis, International Journal of Cancer, Vol. 37(1):21-25, July, 2006
- 33. Ewertz M, Duffy SW, Adami HO, Kvåle G, Lund E, Meirik O, Mellemgaard A, Soini I, Tulinius H. Age at first birth, parity and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis of 8 studies from the Nordic countries. Int J Cancer 1990 Oct 15: 46(4): 597-603
- Palmer JR, Wise LA, Horton NJ, Adams-Campbell LL, Rosenberg L. Dual effect of parity on breast cancer risk in African-American women. Journal of National Cancer Institute, Vol.95, No 6, 478-483, Mar, 2003
- 35. Layde PM, Webster LA, Baughman AL, Wingo PA, Rubin GL, Ory HW. The independent associations of parity, age at first full term pregnancy, and duration of breastfeeding with the risk of breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 1989;42(10):963-73
- 36. Sikind V, Schofield F, Rice D, Bain C. Breast cancer and breastfeeding: results from an Australian case-control study. American Journal of Epidemiology, Vol. 130, No. 2:229-236
- Brinton L, Potischman NA, Swanson CA, Schoenberg JB, Coates RJ, Gammon MD, Malone KE, Stanford JL, Daling JR. Breastfeeding and breast cancer risk. Cancer Causes and Control, Vol. 6, No.3, May, 1995
- Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Lancet, 2002 Jul 20;360(9328):187-95
- 39. Stephenson GD, Rose DP. Breast cancer and obesity: an update. Nutrition and Cancer, Vol. 45(1):1-16, Jan, 2003
- 40. Morimoto LM, White E, Chen Z, Chlebowski RT, Hays J, Kuller L, Lopez AM, Manson JA, Margolis KL, Muti PC, Stefanick ML, McTiernan A. Obesity, body size and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: The Women's Health Initiative (United States). Cancer Causes & Control, Vol. 13(8):741-751, Nov, 2004
- 41. Colditz GA, Hankinson SE, Hunter DJ, Willett WC, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Hennekens C, Rosner B, Speizer FE. The use of estrogens and progestins and the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. N Eng J Med 1995 332: 1589-1593
- 42. Beral V, Bull D, Doll R, Peto R, Reeves G. Breast cancer and abortion: collaborative reanalysis of data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 83,000 women with breast cancer from 16 countries. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Lancet, 363(9414):1007-1016, Mar, 2004
- Melbye M, Wohlfahrt J, Olsen JH, Frisch M, Westergaard T, Helweg-Larsen K, Andersen PK. Induced abortion and the risk of breast cancer. NEJM, Vol. 336(2):81-85, Jan, 1997
- 44. Brind J, Chinchilli VM, Severs WB, Summy-Long J. Induced abortion as an independent risk factor for breast cancer: a comprehensive review and meta-analysis. J Epidemiol Community Health 10/ 1996; 50: 481-496.

- 45. Slattery ML, Kerber RA. A comprehensive evaluation of family history and breast cancer risk. The Utah population database. JAMA, Vol. 270(13) Oct 1993
- 46. Armenian-American Wellness Center http://www.aawc.info.am
- 47. WHO, Diabetes <u>http://www.who.int/diabetes/facts/en/index.html</u>
- 48. WHO, Obesity <u>http://www.who.int/infobase/reportviewer.aspx?rptcode=ALL&uncode=51&dm=5&s</u> <u>urveycode=101001f1</u>
- 49. Gordis L. Epidemiology. 2nd edition. WB Saunders Company, 2000, p. 181
- 50. Campbell DT, Stanley JC. Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research. Boston, Houghton Mifflin Company, 1966
- 51. Aday LA. Designing and conducting health surveys. 2nd edition, SF, Jossey-Bass Publishing Company, 1996
- 52. Center for Health Services Research and Development, AUA <u>http://www.auachsr.com/mph2007.php</u>
- 53. Terry PD, Goodman M. Is the association between cigarette smoking and breast cancer modified by genotype? A review of epidemiologic studies and meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, Vol. 15, 602-611, April 2006
- 54. Phillips DH, Garte S. Smoking and breast cancer: is there really a link? Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, 17, 1, Jan, 2008
- 55. Egan KM, Stamfer MJ, Hunter D, Hankinson S, Rosner BA, Holmes M, Wollett WC, Colditz GA. Active and passive smoking in breast cancer: prospective results from the Nurses' Health Study. Epidemiology, Vol. 13(2):138-145 March 2002
- 56. Couch FJ, Cerhan JR, Vierkant RA, Grabrick DM, Therneau TM, Pankratz VS, Hartmann LC, Olson JE, Vachon CM, Sellers TA. Cigarette smoking increases risk for breast cancer in high-risk breast cancer families. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, Vol. 10, 327-332, April 2001
- 57. Terry PD, Rohan TE. Cigarette smoking and the risk of breast cancer in women. A review of the literature. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention Vol. 11, 953-971, October 2002
- 58. Ambrosone CB, Freudenheim JL, Graham S, Marshall JR, Vena JE, Brasure JR, Michalek AM, Laughlin R, Nemoto T, Gillenwater KA, Shields PG. Cigarette smoking, n-acetyltransferase 2 genetic polymorphisms, and breast cancer risk. JAMA Vol. 276 No. 18, November 13, 1996
- 59. Baron JA, Newcomb PA, Longnecker MP, Mittendorf R, Storer BE, Clapp RW, Bogdan G, Yuen J. Cigarette smoking and breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, Vol. 5 (5): 5399-403, 1996
- 60. Champion VL Instrument development for Health Belief Model structures. Advances

in Nursing Science, 6(3):73-85, April 1984

- 61. Dündar PE, Özmen D, Öztüurk B, Haspolat G, Akyildiz F, Çoban S, Çakiroglu G. The knowledge and attitudes of breast self-examination and mammography in a group of women in a rural area in western Turkey, BMC Cancer, 2006, 6:43
- 62. NHANES 2005-2006, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes_05_06/sp_diq_d.pdf
- 63. Arakelyan S. Investigations of reproductive risk factors for endometrial cancer development among women aged 45-75 years in Yerevan, Armenia: A case-control study. 2007 available at <u>http://www.auachsr.com/mph2007.php</u>
- 64. Shu XO, Brinton LA, Zheng W, Gao YT, Fan J, Fraumeni JF. A population-based case-control study of endometrial cancer in Shanghai, China. Int J Cancer 1991 49(1):38-43
- 65. Pagano M, Gauvreau K. Principles of biostatistics, 2nd edition, Pacific Grove, CA, Duxbury Press 2000
- 66. Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones NM, O'Cathain A, Thomas KJ, Usherwood T, Westlake L. Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. BMJ 1992 305:160-164 (18 July)
- 67. McHorney CA, Ware JE Jr, Rachel LJF, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item shortform health survey (SF-36): III. Tests of data quality, scaling assumptions and reliability across diverse patient groups. Medical Care Jan 1994 Vol. 32 (1)
- 68. Hurvich CM, Tsai CL. Regression and time series model selection in small samples. Biometrika, 1989 Vol. 76 pp. 297-307
- 69. Willet WC, Dietz WH. Guidelines for health weight. NEJM, 1999; 341(6):427-434
- 70. El-Barrawy MA, Morad MI, Gaber M. Role of helicobacter pylori in the genesis of gastric ulcerations among smokers and nonsmokers. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 2000, 3(2):316-321
- 71. Gail MH, Brinton LA, Byar DP, Corle DK, Green SB, Shairer C, Mulvihill JJ. Projecting individualized probabilities of developing breast cancer for white females who are being examined annually. J Natl Cancer Inst 81(24):1879-86, 1989
- 72. National Cancer Institute http://www.cancer.gov/bcrisktool/

TABLES

Table I. Study Variables (Type and Measurement)

Variable	Туре	Measure
Presence of breast cancer	Dependent, binary	1 Case
		0 Control
Age (years)	Independent, continuous	
Education level (years)	Independent, ordinal	1 School (less than 10)
		2 School (10)
		3 College/Professional
		technical
		4 University
		5 Postgraduate
Marital status	Independent, ordinal	1 Single
		2 Married
		3 Divorced
		4 Widowed
BMI (kg/m^2)	Independent, ordinal	Normal (19.0 – 24.9)
		Overweight (25.0 – 29.9)
		Obese (>30.0)
Diabetes type 2	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Age at menarche (years)	Independent, ordinal	≤11
		12-14
		<u>≥</u> 15
Pregnancy	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Number of pregnancies	Independent, continuous	1-5
		6-15
		16-35
Age at first pregnancy	Independent, ordinal	≤20
(years)		21-30
		>30
Parity	Independent, continuous	0
		1
		2
		3
		4
		<u>≥5</u>
Abortions	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Number of induced abortions	Independent, ordinal	0
		1-3
		4-10
		≥11
Number of miscarriages	Independent, ordinal	0

		1-3
		4-6
Breastfeeding	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Breastfeeding duration	Independent, ordinal	≤9
(months)		>9
Menopause	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Age at menopause (years)	Independent, ordinal	≤55
		>55
Intake of oral contraceptives	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Duration of intake of oral	Independent, ordinal	≤ 6
contraceptives (months)		7-24
		≥25
Hormone replacement	Independent, binary	1 Presence
therapy		0 Absence
Combined duration of	Independent, ordinal	≤ 6
hormone replacement		7-24
therapy (months)		≥ 25
Family history of breast	Independent, binary	1 Presence
cancer		0 Absence
Smoking	Independent, binary	1 Presence
		0 Absence
Smoking habits (# of	Independent, ordinal	≤10
cigarettes/per day)		11-20
		>20

Covariates	Cases	Controls	p-value
	(n=150)(%)	(n=152)(%)	
Age (y, mean ± sd)	55.79 ± 7.89	51.11 ± 9.94	0.000*
Education			
Loss than 10 years	(27)	8 (5 3)	0.021*
Less than 10 years	4(2.7)	6(3.3)	0.021
To years	39 (20.0) 25 (22.2)	00(39.3)	
College	55 (25.5) 72 (49.0)	55 (23.0) 49 (21.6)	
University	72 (48.0)	48 (31.6)	
Postgraduate	0	1 (0.7)	
Marital status			
Single	11 (7.3)	5 (3.3)	0.262
Married	120 (80.0)	129 (84.9)	
Divorced	10 (6.7)	6 (3.9)	
Widowed	9 (60)	12 (7.9)	
Widowed	y (0.0)	12 (1.9)	
BMI (kg/m ² , mean \pm sd)	29.03 ± 4.28	27.67 ± 4.57	0.014*
BMI categories ²			
Normal (19.0-24.9)	25 (18.4)	34 (27.6)	0.020*
Overweight $(25.0-29.9)$	54 (39 7)	57 (46 3)	01020
Obese (>30.0)	57(41.9)	32(260)	
00000 (_000)	57 (11.5)	32 (20.0)	
Diabetes mellitus type 2			
Absence	128 (85.3)	147 (96.7)	0.001*
Presence	22 (14.7)	5 (3.3)	
Age at menarche (v. mean \pm sd)	13.47 ± 1.53	14.01 ± 1.47	0.002*
Pregnancy			
Never	12 (8.0)	9 (5.9)	0.478
Ever	138 (92.0)	143 (94.1)	
# of pregnancies (median_range)	5 0-35	5 0-34	0.278
<i>^{<i>n</i>}</i> or pregnancies (methan, range)	5, 0 55	5,054	0.270
Age at 1 st pregnancy (y, mean ±	23.71 ± 4.38	21.77 ± 3.78	0.000*
sd)			
Live births			
No	17 (11.3)	12 (7.9)	0.311
Yes	133 (88.7)	140 (92.1)	
# of living children (mean ± sd)	1.99 ± 0.93	2.22 ± 1.02	0.041*

Table II. Descriptive Characteristics of the Study Participants¹

Abortion			
Never	34 (22.7)	49 (32.2)	0.063**
Ever	116 (77.3)	103 (67.8)	
# of induced abortions (median,	2, 0-30	2, 0-30	0.529
range)			
# of miscarriages (median, range)	0, 0-6	0, 0-4	0.797
Breastfeeding			0.044
Never	10 (7.5)	6 (4.3)	0.264
Ever	123 (92.5)	133 (95.7)	
Duration of breastfeeding (m.	12, 1-36	12, 1-72	0.262
median. range)	12, 100		0.202
Menopause			
No	18 (12.0)	64 (42.4)	0.000*
Yes	127 (84.7)	83 (55.0)	
Don't know	5 (3.3)	4 (2.6)	
	- ()	()	
Age at menopause (y, mean ± sd)	48.75 ± 5.20	48.53 ± 5.30	0.765
Oral contraceptive use			
Never	140 (93.3)	141 (92.8)	0.846
Ever	10 (6.7)	11 (7.2)	
Duration of OC use (m, median,	5, 1-72	3, 1-60	0.087**
range)			
Female hormone use			
Never	119 (79.3)	137 (90.1)	0.009*
Ever	31 (20.7)	15 (9.9)	
Duration of FH use (m, median,	8, 2-72	6, 1-36	0.059**
range)			
Family history of BC			
No	108 (72.0)	137 (90.1)	0.000*
Yes	41 (27.3)	15 (9.9)	
Smoking status			
Never	122 (81.3)	123 (80.9)	0.324
Past	12 (8.0)	7 (4.6)	
Current	16(10.7)	22 (14.5)	
		(110)	
# of cigarettes smoked (mean ±	7.77 ± 6.68	13.44 ± 11.76	0.036*
sd)			

¹Data are presented as frequencies and percentages unless specified ²Reference for cutoff points (69) y=years, sd=standard deviation, #=number, BMI=body mass index, m=months, OC=oral contraceptive, FH=female hormone, BC=breast cancer, *=statistically significant, **=marginally statistically significant

Covariate	Case	Control	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Age (years)	150	152	1.06 (1.03-1.09)	0.000*
Age categories (years)				
35-44	16	46	1.00	
45-54	43	49	2.52 (1.25-5.09)	0.010*
55-70	91	57	4.59 (2.38-8.86)	0.000*
Education (years)				
School (less than 10)	4	8	1.0	
School (10)	39	60	1.3 (0.37-4.61)	0.685
College/Professional	35	35	2.0 (0.55-7.25)	0.292
technical				
University	72	48	3.0 (0.86-10.52)	0.086**
Postgraduate	0	1	/	
Marital status				
Single	11	5	1.00	
Married	120	129	0.42 (0.14-1.25)	0.120
Divorced	10	6	0.76 (0.18-3.27)	0.710
Widowed	9	12	0.34 (0.09-1.34)	0.122
BMI (kg/m^2)	136	123	1.07 (1.01-1.15)	0.015*
BMI (kg/m^2)				
Normal (19.0-24.9)	25	34	1.00	
Overweight (25.0-29.9)	54	57	1.29 (0.68-2.44)	0.435
Obese (>30.0)	57	32	2.42 (1.24-4.75)	0.010*
Diabetes mellitus type 2				
Absence	128	147	1.00	
Presence	22	5	5.05 (1.86-13.73)	0.001*
Age at menarche (years)	144	144	0.78 (0.67-0.92)	0.003*
Age at menarche				
categories (years)				
<11	14	5	1.00	
- >11	130	139	0.33 (0.12-0.95)	0.040*
Pregnancy				
Never	12	9	1.00	
Ever	138	143	0.72 (0.30-1.77)	0.479
# of pregnancies				
1-5	55	58	1.00	
6-15	77	71	1.14 (0.70-1.87)	0.591
16-35	5	14	0.38 (0.13-1.12)	0.078**
	-	-	/	
Age at first pregnancy	138	142	1.13 (1.06-1.20)	0.000*
(years)				
Age at first pregnancy				

Table III. SLR Results: Odds Ratios of Developing Breast Cancer Associated with Covariates

(years)				
≤20	35	63	1.00	
21-30	92	75	2.21 (1.32-3.69)	0.003*
>30	11	4	4.95 (1.47-16.71)	0.010*
Live births	133	140	0.76 (0.61-0.94)	0.014*
Live births				
No	17	12	1.00	
Yes	133	140	0.67 (0.31-1.46)	0.313
# of living children				
0	17	12	1.00	
1	11	13	0.60 (0.20-1.78)	0.355
2	83	71	0.83 (0.37-1.84)	0.640
3	35	44	0.56 (0.24-1.33)	0.189
4	4	10	0.28 (0.07-1.12)	0.071**
5	0	2	/	
Abortion experience				
Never	34	49	1.00	
Ever	116	103	1.62(0.97-2.71)	0.064**
	110	105	1.02 (0.97 2.71)	0.001
# of induced abortions				
0	34	49	1.00	
1-3	65	53	1.77 (1.00-3.12)	0.049*
4-10	46	34	1.95 (1.05-3.65)	0.036*
≥11	5	15	0.48 (0.16-1.45)	0.193
Miscarriages				
Never	115	115	1.00	
Ever	35	37	0.95 (0.56-1.61)	0.837
# of miscarriages				
0	115	115	1.00	
1-3	33	35	0.94 (0.55-1.62)	0.831
4-6	2	2	1.00 (0.14-7.22)	1.000
Breastfeeding				
experience				
Never	10	6	1.00	
Ever	123	133	0.55 (0.20-1.57)	0.268
D				
Breastleeding duration				
(months)	51	56	1.00	
<u>ニ</u> フ 10 24	34 60	30 60	1.00 1.04 (0.62, 1.74)	0 000
10-24	00	0U 1C	1.04 (0.02 - 1.74)	0.890
>24	9	10	0.38 (0.24-1.43)	0.240
Menopause				

	10	<i>c</i> 1	1.00	
No	18	64	1.00	
Yes	132	87	5.39 (2.99-9.72)	0.000*
Age at menonause				
<55	117	80	1.00	
<u>_</u> 55	117	80		0.000
>55	10	3	2.28 (0.61-8.54)	0.222
Oral contraceptive use				
Never	140	141	1.00	
Ever	10	11	0.92(0.38-2.22)	0.846
Duration of OC use				
(months)				
(montus)	2	0	1.00	
≤ 0	3	8	1.00	
7-24	2	1	5.33 (0.34-82.82)	0.232
≥ 25	4	1	10.67 (0.82-138.22)	0.070**
Female hormone use				
Never	119	137	1.00	
Fyer	31	15	238(123-462)	0 010*
	51	15	2.30 (1.23-4.02)	0.010
Combined duration of				
FH use (months)				
<6	14	9	1.00	
7-24	6	5	0.77 (0.18-3.30)	0.726
>25	0	1	5.79(0.6253.77)	0.120
<u>~</u> 23	7	1	5.19 (0. 02-55.11)	0.125
Family history of BC				
No	108	137	1.00	
Ves	12	15	3 47 (1.82-6.60)	0 000*
105	42	15	5.47 (1.82-0.00)	0.000
Smoking status				
Never	122	123	1.00	
Fyer	28	29	0.91 (0.66-1.27)	0 592
Ever	20	2)	0.91 (0.00-1.27)	0.372
# of daily cigarettes				
smoked ¹				
<10	22	16	1.00	
<u>>10</u>	22	10		0.104
11-20	3	6	0.36 (0.08-1.68)	0.194
>20	1	5	0.15 (0.02-1.37)	0.092*

¹Reference for cutoff points (70) OR=odds ratio, BC=breast cancer, CI=confidence interval, BMI=body mass index, #=number, OC=oral contraceptives, FH=female hormone, *=statistically significant, **=marginally statistically significant

Risk factors	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)
		from SLR
Diabetes mellitus type 2	5.53 (1.34-22.81)	5.05 (1.86-13.73)
Age	0.96 (0.90-1.02)	1.06 (1.03-1.09)
BMI	1.05 (0.95-1.16)	1.07 (1.01-1.15)
Age at menarche	0.80 (0.61-1.05)	0.33 (0.12-0.95)
Age at 1 st pregnancy	1.13 (1.01-1.27)	1.13 (1.06-1.20)
Live birth	0.36 (0.20-0.66)	0.76 (0.61-0.94)
Abortion	2.86 (1.02-8.04)	1.62 (0.97-2.71)
Breastfeeding duration	1.00 (0.96-1.05)	0.94 (0.57-1.55)
Age at menopause	1.06 (0.98-1.14)	2.28 (0.61-8.54)
Female hormone use	2.88 (0.88-9.38)	2.38 (1.23-4.62)

Table IV. Final Multiple Logistic Regression Model

Model characteristics: Hosmer-Lemeshow chi2(8) = 10.85, Prob > chi2 = 0.2101, number of groups = 10

APPENDICES





The risk is based on Gail model using risk factors like age at menarche, age at first live birth, number of first-degree relatives with BC etc, so the baseline age-specific hazard rate is computed as a product of observed age-specific composite hazard rate times the quantity 1 minus the attributable risk (71). Source: NCI Surveillance Program (72)

$$n = \frac{\left\{z_{1-\alpha/2}\sqrt{2P_2(1-P_2)} + z_{1-\beta}\sqrt{P_1(1-P_1) + P_2(1-P_2)}\right\}^2}{(P_1 - P_2)^2} \qquad P_1 = \frac{(OR)P_2}{(OR)P_2 + (1-P_2)}$$

. sampsi 0.60 0.43, a(0.05) p(0.8)

Estimated sample size for two-sample comparison of proportions Test Ho: p1 = p2, where p1 is the proportion in population 1 and p2 is the proportion in population 2 Assumptions:

> alpha = 0.0500 (two-sided) power = 0.8000 p1 = 0.6000 p2 = 0.4300 n2/n1 = 1.00

Estimated required sample sizes:

Appendix 3. Accrual Journal Form

ID	Name	Telephone number	Date of interview	Result	Other

Notes: Options for ID

- *O 122* (*case from NOC* # *122*)
- *M 17* (*case from AAWC* # *17*)
- *C 103* (*control* # *103*)

Options for "Result"

- complete
- incomplete
- refusal
- absence
- busy line
- inoperable line

Appendix 4. Enrollment Flowchart







Figure 1. Mean Age of Cases and Controls



Notes: Mean age of cases is significantly higher than mean age of controls: 55.8 ± 7.9 vs. 51.1 ± 9.9 (p<0.001)



Figure 2. Mean BMI of Cases and Controls

Notes: Mean BMI of cases is significantly higher than mean BMI of controls: 29.0 ± 4.3 *vs.* 27.7 ± 4.6 (p=0.014)



Figure 3. Mean Age at Menarche of Cases and Controls

Notes: Mean age at menarche of cases is significantly lower than mean age at menarche of controls: 13.5 ± 1.5 vs. 14.0 ± 1.5 (p=0.002)



Figure 4. Mean Age at First Pregnancy of Cases and Controls

Notes: Mean age at first pregnancy of cases is significantly higher than mean age at first pregnancy of controls: 23.7 ± 4.4 *vs.* 21.8 ± 3.4 (p<0.001)

Appendix 6. Odds Ratios with Confidence Intervals in Univariate Analyses



Odds ratios (95% confidence interval)

Appendix 7. Receiver-Operating Characteristics Curve



Area under ROC curve = 0.8007. An area of 1.0 under the ROC curve indicates perfect discrimination, whereas an area of 0.50 indicates complete absence of discrimination. Any intermediate value is a quantitative measure of the ability of the risk predictor model to distinguish between survivors and non-survivors. The solid line represents no discrimination.

Appendix 8. Consent Forms in English and Armenian

American University Of Armenia Institutional Review Board # 1/Committee On Human Research College Of Health Sciences Subcommittee For Student Theses

Oral Consent Form for Cases

Project Title: Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 and Prolonged Exposure to Estrogen as Risk Factors for Development of Breast Problems in Women of Age 35-70 in Yerevan

Hello, my name is Lilit Khachatryan. I am a Medical Doctor and a graduate student of Master of Public Health Program at the American University of Armenia. As a part of my course requirement I am conducting a study to investigate the role of diabetes and female reproductive characteristics as risk factors for development of breast problems in women of age 35-70 in Yerevan.

You have been randomly selected to participate in this study from women registered at the archive of American-Armenian Wellness Center and/or Mammology department of National Oncology Center by permission of the center director.

In case if you agree to participate in the current study, I am going to ask you a few questions concerning your medical and reproductive history. This interview will take place only once and will last no more than 10-15 minutes. You have the right to ask questions in the scope of the interview and stop it at any moment you wish with no negative consequences for you. I really appreciate your participation in the current study.

There is no any special risk and direct financial or other benefit for you being a participant for the study. The individual information you provide is of great value and will be very useful for investigation of the risk factors of breast problems. Moreover, the obtained results will be very helpful for further research in the field of breast related problems in Armenia.

The information you provide is fully confidential and will be used only for this study. Any identifying information such as your name or telephone number will not be recorded. Only I have access to the computer with names and phone numbers of study participants, and the computer is located in a locked room. All files with information identifying participants will be destroyed upon the completion of the study. Any information that you provide will be coded and held anonymous.

Your participation in the current study is absolutely voluntary. You have the right to stop the interview at any moment or skip any question you think is inappropriate with no further negative consequences for you and medical care you receive.

If you have any questions or want to obtain more information about this research project you can contact me at 091328651. If you believe that you have not been treated fairly or have been hurt by joining the study you may call the Chair of Departmental IRB Yelena Amirkhanyan at 261312 (ext. 333).

American University Of Armenia Institutional Review Board # 1/Committee On Human Research College Of Health Sciences Subcommittee For Student Theses

Oral Consent Form for Cases (Armenian)

Հետազոտության անվանումը. Երկրորդ տիպի շաքարային դիաբետը և էստրոգենի երկարատև ազդեցությունը որպես կրծքագեղձի հիվանդությունների առաջացման ռիսկի գործոններ Երևանի 35-70 տարեկան կանանց շրջանում

Բարև ձեզ, իմ անունն է Լիլիթ Խաչատրյան։ Ես բժիշկ եմ և Հայաստանի ամերիկյան համալսարանի հանրային առողջապահության ծրագրի ավարտական կուրսի ուսանող։ Որպես իմ դիպլոմային աշխատանքի մի մաս` ես հետազոտություն եմ կատարում, որի նպատակն է ուսումնասիրել շաքարախտի և կանանց վերարտադրողական գործոնների դերը Երևանի 35-70 տարեկան կանանց շրջանում կրծքի հիվանդությունների առաջացման մեջ։

Այս հետազոտությանը մասնակցելու համար Դուք պատահականության սկզբունքով ընտրվել եք Հայ-Ամերիկյան առողջության կենտրոնի/Ուռուցքաբանության ազգային կենտրոնի մամոլոգիայի բաժանմունքի արխիվից` տնօրենի թույլտվությամբ։

Եթե Դուք համաձայն եք մասնակցելու այս հետազոտությանը, ապա ես մի քանի հարց կտամ Ձեզ` կապված Ձեր հիվանդության պատմության և վերարտադրողական գործոնների հետ։ Հարցազրույցը տեղի կունենա մեկ անգամ և կտևի ոչ ավելի, քան` 10-15 րոպե։ Հարցազրույցի շրջանակներում Դուք իրավունք ունեք հարցեր տալ, ինչպես նաև` ցանկացած պահի դադարեցնել հարցազրույցը` առանց Ձեզ համար որևէ բացասական հետևանքի։ Ձեր մասնակցությունը խիստ արժեքավոր է մեզ համար։

Հնտազոտությանը մասնակցնլով՝ Դուք չնք ննթարկվում որևէ վտանգի, և չնք ստանում նյութական կամ այլ շահ։ Ձնր տրամադրած տվյալննրը խիստ արժնքավոր նն և շատ կարևոր կրծքի հիվանդությունննրի ռիսկի գործոնննրն ուսումնասիրնլու հարցում։ Ավնլին, ստացված արդյունքննրը շատ օգտակար կլիննն Հայաստանում կրծքի հիվանդությունննրի ոլորտում հնտագա ուսումնասիրությունննրի համար։

Ձեր տրամադրած տվյալները կպահվեն գաղտնի և կօգտագործվեն միայն այս հետազոտության համար։ Ձեր անունը կամ հեռախոսահամարը բացահայտող որևէ տվյալ չի արձանագրվի։ Միայն ես եմ օգտվելու մասնակիցների անունները կամ հեռախոսահամարները պահպանող համակարգչից, որը գտնվելու է կողպված սենյակում։ Մասնակիցների տվյալները պարունակող բոլոր փաստաթղթերը ոչնչացվելու են հետազոտության ավարտին։ Ձեր տրամադրած ցանկացած տվյալ կկոդավորվի և կպահվի անանուն։

Այս հետազոտությանը Ձեր մասնակցությունը բացարձակապես կամավոր է։ Դուք իրավունք ունեք ցանկացած պահի դադարեցնել հարցազրույցը կամ բաց թողնել ցանկացած հարց, որին չեք ցանկանա պատասխանել, առանց Ձեր կամ տրամադրված բուժօգնության համար որևէ բացասական հետևանքի։

Եթե հարցեր կունենաք, կամ կցանկանաք ավելի մանրամասն տվյալներ իմանալ այս հետազոտության մասին, ապա կարող եք զանգահարել ինձ 091328651 հեռախոսահամարով։ Եթե կարծում եք, որ հետազոտության մասնակից դառնալով՝ Չեզ հետ անարդարացի են վարվել կամ վիրավորել, ապա կարող եք զանգահարել ֆակուլտետի էթիկայի հանձնաժողովի նախագահ Ելենա Ամիրխանյանին 261312 հեռախոսահամարով։

American University Of Armenia Institutional Review Board # 1/Committee On Human Research College Of Health Sciences Subcommittee For Student Theses

Oral Consent Form for Controls

Project Title: Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 and Prolonged Exposure to Estrogen as Risk Factors for Development of Breast Diseases in Women of Age 35-70 in Yerevan

Hello, my name is Lilit Khachatryan. I am a Medical doctor and a graduate student of Master of Public Health Program at the American University of Armenia. As a part of my course requirement I am conducting a study to investigate the role of diabetes and female reproductive characteristics as risk factors for development of breast problems in women of age 35-70 in Yerevan.

Your telephone number has been randomly selected for this study. Is there anybody in your household who is a woman of age between 35 and 70 and has not undergone any breast surgery, except for plastic surgery, or diagnosed any breast diseases? Would you pass the telephone to her, please? (*If needed, repeat the introduction for the eligible participant*).

In case if you agree to participate in the current study, I am going to ask you a few questions concerning your medical and reproductive history. This interview will take place only once and will last no more than 10-15 minutes. You have the right to ask questions in the scope of the interview and stop it at any moment you wish with no negative consequences for you. I really appreciate your participation in the current study.

There is no any special risk and direct financial or other benefit for you being a participant for the study. The individual information you provide is of great value and will be very useful for investigation of the risk factors of breast problems. Moreover, the obtained results will be very helpful for further research in the field of breast related problems in Armenia.

The information you provide is fully confidential and anonymous, and will be used only for this study. Any identifying information such as your telephone number will not be recorded. Any information that you provide will be coded and held anonymous.

Your participation in the current study is absolutely voluntary. You have the right to stop the interview at any moment or skip any question you think is inappropriate with no further negative consequences for you.

If you have any questions or want to obtain more information about this research project you can contact me at 091328651. If you believe that you have not been treated fairly or have been hurt by joining the study you may call the Chair of Departmental IRB Yelena Amirkhanyan at 261312 (ext. 333).

American University Of Armenia Institutional Review Board # 1/Committee On Human Research College Of Health Sciences Subcommittee For Student Theses

Oral Consent Form for Controls (Armenian)

Հետազոտության անվանումը. Երկրորդ տիպի շաքարային դիաբետը և էստրոգենի երկարատև ազդեցությունը որպես կրծքագեղձի հիվանդությունների առաջացման ռիսկի գործոններ Երևանի 35-70 տարեկան կանանց շրջանում

Բարև ձեզ, իմ անունն է Լիլիթ Խաչատրյան։ Ես բժիշկ եմ և Հայաստանի ամերիկյան համալսարանի հանրային առողջապահության ծրագրի ավարտական կուրսի ուսանող։ Որպես իմ կուրսային աշխատանքի մի մաս` ես հետազոտություն եմ կատարում, որի նպատակն է ուսումնասիրել շաքարախտի և կանանց վերարտադրողական գործոնների դերը Երևանի 35-70 տարեկան կանանց շրջանում կրծքի հիվանդությունների առաջացման մեջ։

Ձեր հեռախոսահամարը պատահականության սկզբունքով է ընտրվել այս հետազոտության համար։ Ձեր տանը կա, արդյո՞ք, 35-70 տարեկան կին, որը կրծքի վիրահատություն չի տարել, բացի պլաստիկ վիրահատությունից, կամ չունի կրծքի որևէ հիվանդության ախտորոշում։ Խնդրում եմ հեռախոսափողը փոխանցել նրան։ (Անհրաժեշտության դեպքում կրկնել ներածական մասը)։

Եթե Դուք համաձայն եք մասնակցելու այս հետազոտությանը, ապա ես մի քանի հարց կտամ Ձեզ` կապված Ձեր հիվանդության պատմության և վերարտադրողական գործոնների հետ։ Հարցազրույցը տեղի կունենա մեկ անգամ և կտևի ոչ ավելի, քան` 10-15 րոպե։ Հարցազրույցի շրջանակներում Դուք իրավունք ունեք հարցեր տալ, ինչպես նաև` ցանկացած պահի դադարեցնել հարցազրույցը` առանց Ձեզ համար որևէ բացասական հետևանքի։ Ձեր մասնակցությունը խիստ արժեքավոր է մեզ համար։

Հնտազոտությանը մասնակցնլով՝ Դուք չնք ննթարկվում որևէ վտանգի, և չնք ստանում նյութական կամ այլ շահ։ Ձնր տրամադրած տվյալննրը խիստ արժնքավոր նն և շատ կարևոր կրծքի հիվանդությունննրի ռիսկի գործոնննրն ուսումնասիրնլու հարցում։ Ավնլին, ստացված արդյունքննրը շատ օգտակար կլիննն Հայաստանում կրծքի հիվանդությունննրի ոլորտում հնտագա ուսումնասիրությունննրի համար։

Ձեր տրամադրած տվյալները կպահվեն գաղտնի և կօգտագործվեն միայն այս հետազոտության համար։ Ձեր անունը կամ հեռախոսահամարը չի արձանագրվի։ Ձեր տրամադրած տվյալները կկոդավորվեն և կպահվեն անանուն։

Այս հետազոտությանը Ձեր մասնակցությունը բացարձակապես կամավոր է։ Դուք իրավունք ունեք ցանկացած պահի դադարեցնել հարցազրույցը կամ բաց թողնել ցանկացած հարց, որին չեք ցանկանա պատասխանել, առանց Ձեր կամ տրամադրված բուժօգնության համար որևէ բացասական հետևանքի։

Եթե հարցեր կունենաք, կամ կցանկանաք ավելի մանրամասն տվյալներ իմանալ այս հետազոտության մասին, ապա կարող եք զանգահարել ինձ 091328651 հեռախոսահամարով։ Եթե կարծում եք, որ հետազոտության մասնակից դառնալով` Ձեզ հետ անարդարացի են վարվել կամ վիրավորել, ապա կարող եք զանգահարել ֆակուլտետի էթիկայի հանձնաժողովի նախագահ Ելենա Ամիրխանյանին 261312 հեռախոսահամարով։

Appendix 9. IRB Approval

A DECADE OF ACHIEVEMENT - ՆՎԱՃՈՒՄՆԵՐԻ ՏԱՍՆԱՄՅԱԿ



AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF ARMENIA לעטטעניה ענדרה אטני לענעעערעי - 2001 College of Health Sciences

04 March 2009

Lilit Khachatryan, MD Graduate Student, Master of Public Health Program 40 Marshall Bagramian Yerevan 0019 Armenia

RE: IRB Application Form

Dear Dr. Khachatryan:

A departmental Institutional Review Board (IRB) committee within the College of Health Sciences, reviewed your proposal entitled, "Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 and Prolonged Exposure to Estrogen as Risk Factors for Development of Breast Cancer in Women of Age 35-70 in Yerevan". The proposal was approved: Your study appears to be based on comparable prior research, is directly related to your professional duties, and is appropriate for an MPH thesis project.

In our opinion, the proposal follows widely accepted standards. We agree with you that the survey involves minimal risk because there are no patient interventions and participation is a voluntary decision.

It is our determination that this application does not need to be reviewed by the University's IRB and approval is given to you by the College of Health Sciences to proceed with your project.

This approval does not supersede the continued advice and interactions among you and your faculty advisors. Should any change occur within the proposal, please promptly keep us informed.

Sincerely,

E Accel

Yelena Amirkhanyan, MD, MPH Chair, College of Health Sciences Student IRB

cc: Administrator, AUA Committee on Human Research Student's Thesis File

> 40 Marshal Bagramian Avenue Yerevan, 375019, Armenia Tel.: (3741) 512526, 512525, Fax: (3741) 151048, 512840

300 Lakeside Drive 4th Floor Oakland, CA 94612 Tel.: (510) 987-9452 Fax: (510) 208-3576

Appendix 10. Questionnaires in English and Armenian

QUESTIONNAIRE

Record ID _____

Status: 1. \Box Case 0. \Box Control

1. How old are you? _____

2. What is the highest level of education you have completed?

- 1. \Box School (less than 10 years)
- 2. \Box School (10 years)
- 3. College/Professional technical education (10-13 years)
- 4. □ Institute/University
- 5. \Box Postgraduate

3. What is your current marital status?

- 1. \Box Single
- 2. \Box Married
- 3. \Box Divorced
- 4. \Box Widowed
- 4. What is your current weight? _____kg
- 5. What is your height? _____cm

I would like to ask you some questions now about your health history including questions about diabetes, your menstrual cycle, pregnancy, and childbirth.

6. Have you ever been told by a doctor that you have diabetes mellitus?

0. □ No (**skip to Q. 10**) 1. □ Yes

7. How old were you when a doctor first told that you had diabetes?

8. Are you now taking an oral hypoglycemic agent – diabetic pills?

0. □ No 1. □ Yes

9. Are you now taking insulin injections?

0.	No
1.	Yes

10. At what age did you have your first menstruation? _____years old

0. □ Have never had 88. □ Don't remember

11. How many times have you ever been pregnant (including live births, abortions, miscarriages, tubal and current pregnancy)?

_____number of pregnancies (If 0, skip to Q. 19)

12. What was your age at first pregnancy? _____years old

13. How many pregnancies ending in live birth delivery have you experienced?

14. How many living children do you have?

15. How many induced abortions have you experienced in your lifetime?

16. How many miscarriages have you experienced in your lifetime?

17. Did you breast-feed at least one of your children?

0. □ No (**skip to Q. 19**) 1. □ Yes

18. What was the longest duration of your breastfeeding? _____months/years

19. Are you currently in the menopause?

0. □ No (skip to Q. 21, then to Q. 25)
1. □ Yes
88. □ Don't know (skip to Q. 21)

20. How long are you in the menopause? _____ months

21. Have you ever taken an oral contraceptive?

0. □ No (**skip to Q. 23**) 1. □ Yes

23. Have you ever received female hormones (oral, shots, or any type) to lighten menopause symptoms?

0. □ No (skip to Q. 25) 1. □ Yes

24. What was the overall duration of taking female hormones? _____ months/years

25. Have you ever used any female hormones (oral, shots, or any type) over more than a month because of other reasons/disease?

0. □ No (**skip to Q. 27**) 1. □ Yes

26. What was the overall duration of using female hormones? _____ months/years

27. Among your blood related female relatives, has anybody ever been diagnosed with malignant tumor of breast?

0. □ No (**skip to Q. 29**) 1. □ Yes

28. Please, specify _____

29. Are you a current smoker?

0. □ No (skip to Q. 31) 1. □ Yes

30. At what age did you start smoking? _____years old

31. Have you ever smoked in the past?

0. \Box No (stop the interview) 1. \Box Yes

32. How old were you when you quit smoking? _____years old

33. On average, how many cigarettes do (did) you smoke per day? ______cigarettes/day

Thank you very much for your participation.

QUESTIONNAIRE (Armenian)

Արձանագրության ID ------

կարգավիճակը. 1. 🗆 Դեպք Օ. 🗆 կոնտրոլ

1. Քանի՞ տարեկան եք -----

2. Ի՞նչ կրթություն ուննք։

- 1. 🗆 Թերի միջնակարգ/ութամյա
- 2. 🗆 Միջնակարգ (տասնամյա)
- 3. 🗆 Միջնակարգ մասնագիտական (10-13 տարի)
- 4. 🗆 ԲՈՒՀ/համալսարան
- 5. 🗆 Հետդիպլոմային/գիտական աստիճան
- 3. Ի՞նչ ամուսնական կարգավիճակում եք։
 - 1. 🗆 Ամուրի
 - 2. 🗆 Ամուսնացած
 - 3. 🗆 Ամուսնալուծված
 - 4. 🗆 Այրի

4. Որքա՞ն է Ձեր ներկայիս քաշը։ ------ կգ

5. Որքա՞ն է Ձեր հասակը։ ----- սմ

Այժմ նս Ձնզ մի քանի հարց կտամ Ձնր առողջության, ինչպնս նաև` դիաբնտի, դաշտանային ցիկլի, հղիությունննրի և ծննդաբնրությունննրի մասին։

6. Բժիշկը նրբևէ ասն՞լ է ձնզ, որ շաքարային դիաբնտ ուննք։

0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 10-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

7. Քանի՞ տարնկան էիք, նրբ բժիշկն առաջին անգամ ասաց, որ դիաբնտ ուննք։ ------

8. Ներկայումս Դուք ընդունու՞մ եք դիաբետի բուժման համար նախատեսված հաբեր։

0. □ Ωչ 1. □ Այո

9. Ներկայումս Դուք կատարու՞մ եք ինսուլինի ներարկումներ։

0. □ Ωչ 1. □ Այո

10. Քանի՞ տարեկան էիք, երբ առաջին անգամ դաշտան տեսաք։ ------ տարեկան

0. □ Երբեք չեմ տեսել դաշտան 88. □ Չեմ հիշում

11. Քանի՞ հղիություն եք ունեցել (ներառյալ՝ ծննդաբերությունները, աբորտները, վիժումները, արտարգանդային և ներկայիս հղիությունները)

------ հղիությունների թիվը **(0 լինելու դեպքում անցնել 19-րդ հարցին)**

12. Քանի՞ տարեկան էիք, երբ առաջին անգամ հղիացաք։ ------ տարեկան

13. Քանի՞ հղիություն է ավարտվել ծննդաբերությամբ։ -----

14. Քանի՞ կենդանի երեխա ունեք։ ------

15. Քանի՞ աբորտ եք կատարել Ձեր ողջ կյանքի ընթացքում։ -----

16. Քանի՞ հղիություն է ընդհատվնլ վիժումով։ -----

17. Ձեր երեխաներից գոնե մեկին կրծքով կերակրե՞լ եք։

0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 19-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

18. Որքա՞ն է եղել կրծքով կերակրելու ամենաերկար տևողությունը։ -------ամիս/տարի

19. Ներկայումս Դուք դաշտանադադարի մե՞ջ եք։

0. □ Ոչ (անցնել 21-րդ, ապա 25-րդ հարցին) 1. □ Այո 88. □ Չգիտեմ (անցնել 21-րդ հարցին)

20. Որքա՞ն ժամանակ է, որ Դուք դաշտանադադարի մեջ եք։ ------ ամիս/տարի

21. Երբևիցն հակաբնոմնավորիչ հաբնր օգտագործն՞լ նք։

0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 23-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

22. Որքա՞ն է հակաբեղմնավորիչ հաբեր օգտագործելու ընդհանուր տևողությունը։ --------- ամիս/տարի 23. Երբևիցն օգտագործն՞լ նք կանացի հորմոնննը (հաբնրի, սրսկումննրի կամ այլ տնսքով) դաշտանադադարի սիմպտոմննրը մնղմացննլու համար։

> 0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 25-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

25. Երբևիցն մնկ ամսից ավնլի տևողությամբ օգտագործն՞լ նք կանացի հորմոնային դնղամիջոցննը (հաբնրի, սրսկումննրի կամ այլ տնսքով) այլ հիվանդությունննը բուժնլու համար։

> 0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 27-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

26. Որքա՞ն է հորմոններ օգտագործելու ընդհանուր տևողությունը։ -------ամիս/տարի

27. Ձեր արյունակից ազգականներից որևէ մեկի մոտ երբևիցե հայտնաբերվե՞լ է կրծքագեղձի քաղցկեղ։

> 0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 29-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

28. Ivunptid, u2tp ------

29. Դուք ներկայումս ծխու՞մ եք։

0. □ Ոչ **(անցնել 31-րդ հարցին)** 1. □ Այո

30. Ո՞ր տարիքում սկսեցիք ծխել։ ------ տարեկան

31. Անգյալում նրբևիցն ծխն՞լ նք։

0. □ Ոչ (ավարտել հարցազրույցը) 1. □ Ալո

32. Քանի՞ տարնկան էիք, նրբ թողնցիք ծխնլը։ ------ տարնկան

Շնորհակալություն հարցազրույցին մասնակցելու համար